### Case No. S279622

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HECTOR CASTELLANOS, JOSEPH DELGADO, SAORI OKAWA, MICHAEL ROBINSON, SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION CALIFORNIA STATE COUNCIL, and SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, and KATIE HAGEN, in her official capacity as Director of the California Department of Industrial Relations,

Defendants and Appellants,

PROTECT APP-BASED DRIVERS AND SERVICES, DAVIS WHITE, and KEITH YANDELL,

Intervenors and Appellants.

First Appellate District, No. A163655 Alameda County Superior Court, No. RG21088725 Hon. Frank Roesch, Judge

### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Business and Professions Code section 7451, which was enacted by Proposition 22 (the "Protect App-Based Drivers and Services Act"), conflict with article XIV, section 4 of the California Constitution and therefore require that Proposition 22, by its own terms, be deemed invalid in its entirety?

### INTRODUCTION

Workers' compensation legislation was the result of a long struggle to hold businesses responsible for occupational injuries and deaths. (See Prosser, Law of Torts (4th ed. 1971), § 80, pp. 530–531 (hereafter Prosser).) In 1918, California voters approved a constitutional amendment, now codified at article XIV, section 4, providing that "[t]he Legislature is ... expressly vested with *plenary power, unlimited by any provision of this Constitution*, to create, and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation" to protect "any or all ... workers." (Cal. Const., art. XIV, § 4, emphasis added.)

Article XIV, section 4 defines a complete system of workers' compensation to include "full provision" for medical care and financial support for injured workers or their dependents, "full provision for securing safety in places of employment," and the vesting of power in an administrative body "to determine any dispute ... expeditiously, inexpensively, and without incumbrance of any character." (Cal. Const., art. XIV, § 4.) Article XIV, section 4 "expressly declare[s]" a complete workers' compensation system "to be the social public policy of this State." (*Ibid.*)

Proposition 22, adopted in 2020, is an initiative statute sponsored by app-based companies that rely on drivers' labor to

transport passengers and deliver food, groceries, and other goods. Proposition 22 includes a statutory provision, Business and Professions Code section 7451,¹ that strips employment protections from these workers. Among other things, section 7451 absolves app-based companies of their responsibilities to these workers under California statutes governing workers' compensation and occupational safety. Under Proposition 22, the app-based companies need only make available limited private accident insurance for these workers. Such accident insurance is not even arguably a complete system of workers' compensation.

By preventing the Legislature from exercising its plenary power to protect app-based drivers with a complete workers' compensation system, section 7451 impermissibly conflicts with article XIV, section 4. Because the Legislature's article XIV power, granted by the 1918 constitutional amendment, is "unlimited by any provision of th[e] Constitution," that power is not constrained by pre-1918 constitutional provisions that authorize initiative statutes. An initiative statute like Proposition 22 cannot remove workers from the workers' compensation system, or force future Legislatures to obtain voter approval before including workers within the workers' compensation system, because article XIV provides the Legislature with "plenary" and expressly "unlimited" power to provide a workers' compensation system to protect "any or all" workers.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All undesignated statutory references are to the Business and Professions Code.

App-based companies are free to ask voters to partially repeal article XIV, section 4, but they must do so by initiative constitutional amendment, not by initiative statute. Because Proposition 22 includes a non-severability provision that applies to section 7451, the initiative, by its own terms, is invalid in its entirety.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## 1. Article XIV, Section 4

"Under the common law system, by far the greater proportion of industrial accidents remained uncompensated, and the burden fell upon the workman, who was least able to support it." (Prosser, *supra*, p. 530.) Even where injured workers or their dependents theoretically could overcome the "three wicked sisters" of employer tort defenses—contributory negligence, assumption of risk, and the fellow servant rule—the delay and expense of tort litigation placed "pressure on the injured man to settle his claim in order to live." (*Id.* at pp. 530–531.) Increasing agitation for change, fueled by poor "working conditions ... which the employer was under no particular incentive to improve," eventually led almost every state to adopt workers' compensation legislation between 1910 and 1920. (*Id.* at p. 530.)

In California, our Legislature adopted a voluntary workers' compensation system in 1911. (Stats. 1911, pp. 796–806.) The same year, California voters approved a constitutional amendment to grant the Legislature authority to adopt a compulsory workers' compensation system. (*Id.* at pp. 2179–2180; *Mathews v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 719, 730 (*Mathews*).) The constitutional amendment authorizing

initiative statutes and initiative constitutional amendments was adopted at the same 1911 election. (See *Taxpayers To Limit Campaign Spending v. Fair Pol. Practices Comm'n* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 744, 766.)

The Legislature exercised its authority to create a compulsory workers' compensation system by adopting the Boynton Act in 1913. (Stats. 1913, pp. 279–320; *Mathews, supra*, 6 Cal.3d at p. 730.) This Court recognized that the compulsory workers' compensation legislation was "radical, not to say revolutionary," but upheld the Boynton Act against constitutional challenges. (W. Indem. Co. v. Pillsbury (1915) 170 Cal. 686, 692.) In 1917, the Legislature significantly revised and expanded the Boynton Act by adopting the "workmen's compensation, insurance and safety act of 1917" (the 1917 Act), which "represented the full evolution of the workmen's compensation system." (Stats. 1917, pp. 831–879; *Mathews*, 6 Cal.3d at p. 731.)

In 1918, the Legislature placed on the ballot, and the voters enacted, a new constitutional amendment that gave the Legislature unfettered authority to protect any or all workers with a complete workers' compensation system that includes all the key elements of the 1917 Act. (Stats. 1917, pp. 1953–1954; *Mathews*, *supra*, 6 Cal.3d at p. 733.) The 1918 constitutional amendment, now codified in article XIV, provides:

The Legislature is hereby expressly vested with plenary power, unlimited by any provision of this Constitution, to create, and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation, by appropriate legislation ....

(Cal. Const., art. XIV, § 4.) Article XIV further provides that the Legislature's plenary and unlimited power extends to "any or all ... workers." (*Ibid.*)

Article XIV defines a "complete system of workers' compensation" by tracking the language of the 1917 Act. (See Stats. 1917, pp. 832–833.) A complete system includes, among other things, adequate financial support to relieve workers and their dependents "from the consequences of any injury or death incurred or sustained by workers in the course of their employment, irrespective of the fault of any party" and "full provision" for "medical, surgical, hospital and other remedial treatment as is requisite to cure and relieve from the effects of ... injury." (Cal. Const., art. XIV, § 4.) A complete system includes "full provision" for "securing the payment of compensation," including by "vesting power, authority and jurisdiction in an administrative body with all the requisite governmental functions to determine any dispute" so as to "accomplish substantial justice in all cases expeditiously, inexpensively, and without incumbrance of any character." (*Ibid.*) A complete system also includes "full provision" for "securing safety in places of employment," i.e., occupational safety and health protections. (Ibid.)

Finally, article XIV, section 4 "expressly declare[s]" the provision of all elements of a complete workers' compensation system "to be the social public policy of this State, binding upon all departments of the state government." (Cal. Const., art. XIV, § 4; see also Stats. 1917, p. 833 [same language in 1917 Act].)

### 2. The ABC Test

In 2018, this Court issued a unanimous decision in Dynamex Operations W. v. Superior Court (2018) 4 Cal.5th 903 (Dynamex), which adopted a three-part test for determining a worker's classification under Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) wage orders. That test—known as the "ABC" test—presumes that workers are employees unless the hiring entity can demonstrate that the workers are (A) free from the hiring entity's control; (B) performing work outside the usual course of the employer's business; and (C) independently established in a trade or business to perform the type of work provided. (Id. at pp. 956–957.)

In *Dynamex*, this Court recognized that the classification of workers "has considerable significance for workers, businesses, and the public generally." (*Dynamex*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 912.) Workers who are properly classified as employees "obtain[] the protection of [various] labor laws and regulations," with their employers appropriately bearing the "costs or responsibilities" of those protections. (*Id.* at p. 913.) Independent contractors, on the other hand, "obtain[] none of the numerous labor law benefits" tied to employee status, and "the public may be required ... to assume additional financial burdens with respect to such workers and their families." (*Ibid.*) "[T]he misclassification of workers as independent contractors rather than employees is a very serious problem, depriving federal and state governments of billions of dollars in tax revenue and millions of workers of the labor law protections to which they are entitled." (*Ibid.*) Further,

businesses that misclassify their workers may thereby obtain an "unfair competitive advantage ... over competitors that properly classify similar workers as employees." (*Ibid.*)

Soon after *Dynamex*, the Legislature acted "to codify the decision" and to "clarify the decision's application in state law." (Stats. 2019, ch. 296, § 1, subd. (d).) Thus, in 2019 the Legislature passed Assembly Bill 5 (AB 5), which confirms that the ABC test generally applies not only under IWC wage orders, but also for purposes of the Labor Code—including workers' compensation coverage—and the Unemployment Insurance Code. (See *id.*, § 2.)

In so doing, the Legislature reprised this Court's findings regarding "the harm to misclassified workers who lose significant workplace protections, the unfairness to employers who must compete with companies that misclassify, and the loss to the state of needed revenue from companies that use misclassification to avoid [financial] obligations." (Stats. 2019, ch. 296, § 1, subd. (b).) By codifying the ABC test, the Legislature sought "to ensure workers who are currently exploited by being misclassified as independent contractors ... have the basic rights and protections they deserve under the law, including a minimum wage, workers' compensation ..., unemployment insurance, paid sick leave, and paid family leave." (Id., subd. (e).)

## 3. Proposition 22

In response to AB 5, several companies whose app-based business models require the labor of drivers—including Uber, Lyft, and DoorDash—sought to change state law in order to allow them to classify their drivers as independent contractors. Those

companies thus placed Proposition 22, an initiative statute, on the November 3, 2020 general election ballot. After the companies spent more than \$200 million to promote Proposition 22, the most expensive campaign to support a ballot proposition in United States history,<sup>2</sup> the electorate voted to approve the measure.

Among the statutory provisions adopted by Proposition 22 is section 7451, which establishes that app-based drivers who satisfy certain criteria are independent contractors rather than employees for purposes of the Labor Code. Section 7451 thereby excuses app-based companies from any obligations to these workers under the workers' compensation system and under occupational safety and health statutes. Proposition 22 provides that app-based companies need only "make[] available" private accident insurance for these workers. (§ 7455.)

Proposition 22 also set forth several unusual restrictions in a provision entitled "Amendment." (§ 7465.) That provision precludes the Legislature from amending Proposition 22 unless the amendment is approved by a near-impossible seven-eighths majority of both houses of the Legislature and is "consistent with, and furthers the purpose of" the initiative. (*Id.*, subd. (a).) The provision states that "any statute that amends Section 7451"—i.e., the section establishing the independent-contractor status of app-based drivers—"does not further the purposes of" the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note, The Unstoppable App Campaign: The Dangers of First Amendment Protection for In-App Political Campaigning (2022) 110 Cal. L. Rev. 1659, 1661.

initiative. (Id., subd. (c)(2).) And it states that any statute that "imposes unequal regulatory burdens upon app-based drivers based on their classification status" (id., subd. (c)(3)), or "authorizes any entity or organization to represent the interests of app-based drivers in connection with drivers' contractual relationships with network companies, or drivers' compensation, benefits, or working conditions" (id., subd. (c)(4)), constitutes an amendment to Proposition 22. The latter provision would effectively prevent the Legislature from authorizing app-based drivers to organize and engage in collective bargaining.

Additionally, Proposition 22 provides that its various provisions are severable, with one notable exception: "if any portion ... or application of Section 7451 ... is for any reason held to be invalid by a decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, that decision shall apply to the entirety of the remaining provisions of [the initiative], and no provision [of the initiative] shall be deemed valid or given force of law." (§ 7467, subd. (b).)

## 4. Proceedings Below

On February 11, 2021, Plaintiffs filed a petition for writ of mandate (Petition), alleging that Proposition 22 violates the California Constitution and is therefore invalid.<sup>3</sup> (AA 14–41.) The

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Plaintiffs initially filed an emergency mandamus petition directly in this Court. (See *Castellanos v. State of California* (petn. denied Feb. 3, 2021, S266551).) This Court denied the petition "without prejudice to refiling in an appropriate court." (*Ibid.*) At least two justices voted to hear the petition. (*Ibid.*) Shortly thereafter, Plaintiffs refiled their petition in Alameda Superior Court. (AA 42.)

Petition named the State of California and a state official (collectively, the State) as respondents. The parties stipulated to allow proponents of Proposition 22 and executives of Uber and DoorDash (collectively, Intervenors) to intervene. (AA 196–202.)

On August 20, 2021, the trial court granted the Petition. (AA 886–897.) The trial court concluded that Proposition 22 imposes "an unconstitutional continuing limitation on the Legislature's power to exercise its plenary power to determine what workers must be covered or not covered by the workers' compensation system." (AA 889.) And it determined that "[t]he plain meaning of Article XIV, Section 4's plenary-and-unlimited clause governs over the more general limitation on [the Legislature's ability to amend initiative statutes in Article II Section 10." (AA 889; see also *ibid*. [the Legislature's "authority is not 'plenary' or 'unlimited by any provision of [the] Constitution'" if it is "limited by an initiative statute"].) The trial court further held that, because the initiative expressly states that the unlawful provision regarding independent-contractor status for purposes of workers' compensation is not severable, "the whole Act should be stricken." (AA 889–890, citing §§ 7451, 7467, subd. (b).)

The trial court also concluded that Proposition 22's restriction on collective bargaining "unconstitutionally purports to limit the Legislature's ability to pass future legislation that does not constitute an 'amendment' under Article II, Section 10, Subdivision (c)," and so that provision is invalid. (AA 895.) Finally, the trial court concluded that the inclusion of the

amendment provision in Proposition 22 violates the California Constitution's single-subject rule. (AA 895–896.)

The trial court thus entered judgment for Plaintiffs, declaring Proposition 22 "invalid in its entirety." (AA 899.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed in part and reversed in part. The Court of Appeal unanimously agreed that parts of Proposition 22's amendment provision are unconstitutional because they intrude upon the authority of both the legislative and judicial branches. (Maj. opn., at pp. 48–52.)<sup>4</sup> And the Court of Appeal unanimously rejected the trial court's conclusion that the unconstitutional provision also is a single-subject violation. (*Id.* at pp. 29–38.) But the Court of Appeal divided two to one on the question whether Proposition 22 conflicts with article XIV, section 4 of the Constitution and is therefore invalid in toto.

The Court of Appeal majority concluded that an initiative statute can limit the Legislature's power to create and enforce a complete workers' compensation system. (Maj. opn., at pp. 10–28.) The majority acknowledged that article XIV, section 4 provides that this legislative authority over workers' compensation is "unlimited" by any other provision of the Constitution, but the majority reasoned that it is ambiguous as to which provisions of the Constitution apply and which do not. (Id. at pp. 15–16.) And because article XIV, section 4 contains no "direct or explicit statement" that the Legislature's power over

19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Citations to the Court of Appeal majority opinion (maj. opn.) and dissenting opinion (dis. opn.) are to pages in the slip opinion appended as Attachment A to the Petition for Review.

the state workers' compensation system must prevail over the voters' initiative power, the majority would not construe article XIV to preclude Proposition 22. (*Id.* at pp. 17–18.)

Justice Streeter dissented, concluding that Proposition 22 conflicts with article XIV, section 4 and, therefore, that Proposition 22 must be invalidated in toto. (Dis. opn., at pp. 62– 64.) Justice Streeter reasoned that article XIV adopts certain substantive requirements of a "complete system of workers' compensation," whereas Proposition 22 impermissibly "removes app-based drivers from th[at] constitutionally mandated workers' compensation system and substitutes a private accident insurance mandate" lacking those basic features. (*Id.* at pp. 2–3.) Justice Streeter further reasoned that because the Constitution grants the Legislature unlimited power to "create" and "enforce" a workers' compensation system, the voters could not, through an initiative statute, "reserve all statutory lawmaking power for themselves." (Id. at p. 24.) The history of the 1911 and 1918 constitutional amendments, as well as statutory workers' compensation enactments and judicial decisions during that era, also demonstrated that voters intended that article XIV, section 4 "be given priority over other provisions in the Constitution in the event of conflict." (Id. at p. 37.)

This Court granted review and issued an order limiting the issue for consideration to whether section 7451 conflicts with article XIV, section 4.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Section 7451 Conflicts With Article XIV, Section 4 of the California Constitution.
  - A. Section 7451 impermissibly restrains the Legislature from exercising its unlimited power to enforce a complete workers' compensation system for any or all workers.

As adopted by constitutional amendment in 1918, article XIV, section 4 vests the Legislature with "plenary power, unlimited by any provision of th[e] Constitution," to create and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation to protect "any and all workers and those dependent upon them." The amendment thus "enable[s] the Legislature ... to provide a complete, workable scheme unhampered by limitations contained in other provisions of the state Constitution." (Subsequent Injs. Fund v. Indus. Acc. Comm'n (1952) 39 Cal.2d 83, 88.) Even "[t]he jurisdictional provisions of article VI," which address the judicial power, are "inapplicable to the extent that the Legislature has exercised the powers granted it under section 4 of article XIV." (Greener v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1028, 1037; see also Hustedt v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1981) 30 Cal.3d 329, 343 [recognizing that article XIV, section 4 operates as a "'repeal pro tanto' of any state constitutional provisions" that "would prohibit the realization of the objectives of the new article" (emphasis added)].)

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