No. S279622

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

HECTOR CASTELLANOS ET AL., Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ET AL., Defendants and Appellants;

PROTECT APP-BASED DRIVERS AND SERVICES ET AL., Interveners and Appellants.

First Appellate District, Case No. A163655 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. RG21088725 The Honorable Frank Roesch, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 7451 IS A VALID EXERCISE OF THE INITIATIVE POWER

A. The voters may legislate on the subject of workers' compensation

1. The California Constitution expressly recognizes that "[a]ll political power is inherent in the people." (Cal. Const., art. II, § 1.) Our "[g]overnment is instituted for their protection, security, and benefit, and they have the right to alter or reform it when the public good may require." (*Ibid.*; see generally *Strauss v. Horton* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 364, 413 [describing this "basic precept of our governmental system"].)

The Constitution initially reserved legislative power to the people's representatives in the Legislature. (Cal. Const. of 1849, art. IV, § 1; see *Perry v. Brown* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1116, 1140.) That changed during the Progressive Era. As discussed above (*ante*, pp. 12-13), the voters "overwhelmingly" approved a 1911 constitutional amendment empowering the people to enact legislation by ballot initiative. (*Independent Energy Producers* Assn. v. McPherson (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1020, 1042; see Cal. Const. art. II, §§ 8, 10; *id.*, art. IV, § 1.) Consistent with that amendment, the Court has repeatedly upheld initiatives addressing a wide variety of subjects. (See, e.g., *Briggs v. Brown* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 808, 827; *McPherson*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1032; *Kennedy Wholesale*, *Inc. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 245, 249-250; *Brosnahan v. Brown* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 236, 262; see generally *Associated Home Builders etc.*, *Inc. v. City of Livermore* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 582, 591 ["the courts have described the initiative . . . as articulating 'one of the most precious rights of our democratic process""].)

During that same Progressive Era, the voters amended the Constitution to add what is now article XIV, section 4. As noted, section 4 directs that "[t]he Legislature is hereby expressly vested with plenary power, unlimited by any provision of this Constitution, to create, and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation, by appropriate legislation[.]" That amendment was approved by the voters in 1918, after a burst of legislative activity between 1911 and 1917 on the subject of workers' compensation. (See *Mathews v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 719, 728-731.) Section 4 was intended not only to confirm the Legislature's authority to enact a workers' compensation system with the features on the books in 1918 (see *id.* at pp. 733-735), but also to provide the Legislature with ongoing "authority to determine the contours and content of our state's workers' compensation system" in the future (*Facundo*- *Guerrero v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 640, 650; see 4 AA 796 (ballot statement of Sen. Luce)).

That ongoing authority is reflected in section 4's text, which speaks prospectively: it authorizes the Legislature "to create, and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation"; "to create and enforce a liability" related to workers' compensation; and to "establish[] and manage[] ... a State compensation insurance fund." (Italics added.) And many of section 4's specific provisions contemplate the Legislature's ability to recalibrate workers' compensation laws in response to future developments. For instance, the text empowers the Legislature to set "adequate provisions for the comfort, health and safety and general welfare" of workers and their dependents. What is "adequate" may evolve as a result of changes in living conditions. Section 4 also empowers the Legislature to enact "provision[s] for securing safety in places of employment," which may require adjustment to address emerging business activities and new workplace conditions. And it empowers the Legislature to provide "for such medical, surgical, hospital and other remedial treatment as is requisite to cure and relieve from the effects of" workplace injuries. As medical science changes over time, so too may the "requisite" treatments.

The Constitution thus prescribes an active and ongoing role for the Legislature in adjusting the provisions of California's workers' compensation statutes. Indeed, this Court and the Courts of Appeal have consistently recognized that the Legislature has broad authority to expand and contract the scope

of the workers' compensation system as it deems appropriate. (See, e.g., *County of Los Angeles v. State of California* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 59-62; *Mathews, supra*, 6 Cal.3d at p. 728; *Subsequent Injuries Fund v. Industrial Acci. Com.* (1952) 39 Cal.2d 83, 87-89; *San Francisco v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 103, 113-115; *Stevens v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 1074, 1093; *Bautista v. State of California* (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 716, 722.)

2. But the Legislature's authority to legislate on the subject of workers' compensation is not *exclusive*. Each of the parties to this case—and each of the four jurists who considered the case below—agrees that the voters retain the power to enact initiative statutes on this subject. (See, e.g., OBM 40; Interveners' Answer to Pet. 19-20; opn. 21-22; conc. & dis. opn. 31; 4 AA 888.)

Text and precedent establish why that unanimous position is correct. The voters expressly granted "[t]he Legislature . . . plenary power" to create and enforce a workers' compensation system. (Cal. Const., art. XIV, § 4; see also *id.*, art. IV, § 1 [defining "Legislature" to mean "the Senate and Assembly"].) The voters' use of "plenary" underscores that the Legislature's power is "complete" and "unqualified." (*McPherson, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1035, internal quotation marks omitted.)⁶ But "plenary" does not mean "exclusive." (See *ibid.*) Under articles II

⁶ See also American Dictionary of the English Language (1910) p. 654 (defining "plenary" as "full," "entire," "complete"); Laird and Lee's Webster's New Standard American Dictionary (1912) p. 840 (same); Webster's Collegiate Dictionary (1916) p. 740 ("full," "entire," "complete," "absolute").

and IV of the Constitution, the electorate's initiative power is generally "coextensive with the power of the Legislature" to enact statutes. (*Id.* at p. 1032, internal quotation marks omitted; see Cal. Const., art. II, § 8; *id.*, art. IV, § 1.) Nothing in section 4 overrides that broad grant of power or otherwise prohibits the voters from using their initiative power to enact statutes regarding workers' compensation. Nor does section 4 contain any of the language that constitutional drafters typically use to grant exclusive authority.⁷

As a matter of precedent, moreover, "numerous California decisions . . . have held, in a variety of contexts, that language in the California Constitution establishing the authority of 'the Legislature' to legislate in a particular area" cannot "reasonably be interpreted . . . to preclude . . . the right of the people through the initiative process to exercise similar legislative authority" pursuant to articles II and IV. (*McPherson, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1033, discussing, e.g., *Kennedy Wholesale, supra*, 53 Cal.3d at p. 249-251; see generally *Fair Political Practices Com. v. Superior Court* (1979) 25 Cal.3d 33, 42 ["The people having reserved the legislative power to themselves as well as having granted it to the Legislature, there is no reason to hold that the people's power is more limited than that of the Legislature"].)

⁷ See, e.g., Cal. Const., art. V, § 10 ("The Supreme Court has exclusive jurisdiction to determine all questions arising under this section."); *id.*, art. XX, § 22 (the State "shall have the exclusive right and power to license and regulate . . . alcoholic beverages within the State").

McPherson is a prime example. The constitutional provision at issue in that case—article XII, section 5—states that "[t]he Legislature has plenary power, unlimited by the other provisions of this constitution but consistent with this article, to confer additional authority and jurisdiction upon the" Public Utilities Commission (PUC). In deciding whether section 5 barred a voter initiative to expand the jurisdiction of the Commission, this Court quoted approvingly from precedent "reject[ing] the contention that the term 'plenary power' means exclusive power." (McPherson, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1035.) Although the text of section 5 was "not unambiguous," the Progressive Era history surrounding its adoption led the Court to "conclude that [section 5] does not preclude the people, through their exercise of the initiative process, from" exercising the same legislative power expressly vested in the Legislature. (Id. at pp. 1036, 1043-1044.) It would have been "most improbable" for the same voters who approved "a far-reaching measure incorporating a broad initiative power as part of the California Constitution" to have "intended, without any direct or explicit statement to this effect, to *limit* the use of the initiative power by virtue of the language" in section 5. (*Id.* at p. 1042.)

The Court of Appeal in this case correctly applied that precedent to the "virtually identical language" of article XIV, section 4. (Opn. 20.) As the court recognized, there is "no justification for reaching a different interpretation than [in] *McPherson.*" (*Ibid.*) The voters retain the power to enact initiative statutes on the subject of workers' compensation. (*Id.* at pp. 21-22.)

B. Section 7451 does not violate article XIV, section 4

This Court framed the question presented in this case as follows: "Does Business and Professions Code section 7451, which was enacted by Proposition 22 . . . , conflict with article XIV, section 4 of the California Constitution and therefore require that Proposition 22, by its own terms, be deemed invalid in its entirety?" The answer to that question is no. Nothing in section 7451 conflicts with or violates article XIV, section 4. Plaintiffs' arguments point to novel questions about other aspects of Proposition 22 and our state Constitution that could be the subject of review if presented in a future case (see *post*, pp. 37-46), but plaintiffs do not identify any basis for holding that *section 7451* is unconstitutional.

1. Section 7451 creates a four-part test to determine when "an app-based driver is an independent contractor and not an employee or agent with respect to the app-based driver's relationship with a network company." (See *ante*, p. 20, fn. 5.) Network companies must satisfy all four conditions to classify an app-based driver as an independent contractor. Although section 7451 does not directly address workers' compensation, it does direct that, when all four conditions are satisfied, a driver "is an independent contractor" "[n]otwithstanding any other provision of law, including . . . the Labor Code." The Labor Code contains California's workers' compensation statutes, which provide that independent contractors generally are not eligible for workers'

compensation. (See, e.g., Lab. Code, §§ 3351, 3353, 3600; S.G. Borello & Sons, Inc. v. Department of Industrial Relations (1989) 48 Cal.3d 341, 349.) In lieu of providing workers' compensation to app-based drivers, the voters in Proposition 22 enacted another provision—separate from section 7451—that creates a form of "occupational accident insurance" coverage for covered drivers. (See § 7455; ante, pp. 20-21.)

Although Section 7451 affects who is entitled to workers' compensation, that does not bring it in conflict with article XIV, section 4. Nothing in section 4 overrides the voters' broad authority under articles II and IV to enact initiatives on any subject matter—including workers' compensation. (See *Rossi v. Brown* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 688, 699, fn. 6; *Strauss, supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 456 ["no subject-matter limitation on the initiative process"].) The Legislature instead shares with the voters the authority to enact legislation on that subject.

2. Seizing on a single footnote in *McPherson*, plaintiffs contend that the policy change reflected in section 7451 is impermissible. (OBM 24-32.) The Court observed in that footnote that it "ha[d] no occasion in this case to consider whether an initiative measure relating to the PUC may be challenged on the ground that it . . . improperly conflicts with the Legislature's exercise of *its* authority to expand the PUC's jurisdiction or authority." (*McPherson, supra,* 38 Cal.4th at p. 1044, fn. 9, original italics; see generally *Consumers Lobby Against Monopolies v. Public Utilities Com.* (1979) 25 Cal.3d 891, 902 ["a case is not authority for a point that was not actually decided by

the court"].) Plaintiffs argue that section 7451 presents "the type of conflict issue" reserved by the Court in *McPherson* (Pet. 9) because it "directly conflicts with existing law that makes" appbased drivers eligible for standard workers' compensation benefits (Pet. 29; see OBM 26-27).

But the circumstances of *McPherson* indicate that the type of "conflict" the Court had in mind in footnote 9 was not a mere policy change by the voters that contravenes a statute previously enacted by the Legislature. *McPherson* involved the PUC's authority to regulate independent electric service providers. (See 38 Cal.4th at p. 1026.) Under the existing statutory scheme that the Legislature had enacted, those providers "were required to register with the PUC for licensing purposes, but their rates and terms of service explicitly were *not* subject to PUC regulation." (Ibid.; see Pub. Util. Code, § 394, subd. (f), added by Stats. 1997, ch. 275, § 13, p. 1317; Pub. Util. Code, § 218.3, added by Stats. 1999, ch. 1005, § 4, p. 7678.)⁸ The initiative challenged in *McPherson* would have directly contradicted the Legislature's policy choice: it would have changed the statute to subject the same providers to "the jurisdiction, control, and regulation of the commission," including "regulation of [their] rates and terms and conditions of service." (38 Cal.4th at p. 1026, fn. 1; see Ballot Pamp., *supra*, text of Prop. 80, § 2, subd. (b)(3), p. 72; *id.*, § 3,

⁸ See also Ballot Pamp., Special Elec. (Nov. 8, 2005) analysis of Prop. 80, p. 50 ("Under current law, [electric service providers] are only required to register with the PUC for licensing purposes; their rates and terms of service are not regulated by the PUC.").

p. 73; *id.*, § 9, p. 75.) Still, this Court held that the initiative would be a permissible exercise of "the people's reserved right to legislate through the initiative power." (38 Cal.4th at p. 1043.)

Nor would it make sense to forbid the voters from enacting a statute merely because the initiative "directly conflicts with" (OBM 26) a prior policy choice by the Legislature. The power to legislate necessarily includes the power to adjust, revise, and (at times) contradict pre-existing legislation. (See *California Redevelopment Assn. v. Matosantos* (2011) 53 Cal.4th 231, 255.) As *McPherson* recognized, that power is generally shared by the Legislature and the voters. (*Ante*, p. 28.) But the rule suggested by plaintiffs would give the Legislature a first-mover advantage, allowing its initial policy choices to freeze out subsequent efforts by the voters to enact contradictory policies through a statutory initiative.⁹ That rule finds no support in *McPherson*.

A more sensible understanding of footnote 9 in *McPherson* is that the Court reserved judgment on a hypothetical voter initiative purporting to freeze the *Legislature* out of future policymaking by obstructing that body's exercise of its express constitutional authority to augment the jurisdiction of the Public Utilities Commission. Plaintiffs argue that Proposition 22 presents a like concern with respect to the Legislature's express

⁹ Under plaintiffs' proposed rule, for example, the voters would not have been able to enact AB 5 by initiative. As plaintiffs appear to acknowledge (see OBM 15, 36), AB 5 revised the worker-classification standard that the Legislature had previously adopted for purposes of determining eligibility for workers' compensation.

plenary authority to create and modify a workers' compensation system. (OBM 22-24, 26-27.) That argument raises novel questions about the interplay between articles II and XIV of the Constitution, and about the appropriate remedy if a constitutional defect were identified in the separate provision of Proposition 22—section 7465—that purports to limit the Legislature's ability to amend Proposition 22. (*Post*, pp. 40-44.)

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